

S L De CASTRO

Laboratory of Cell Biology FIOCRUZ, BRAZIL

# Propolis: Biological and Pharmacological Activities. Therapeutic Uses of this Bee-product

## **Contents**

**Abstract** 

Background

Chemical Composition

Compounds Isolated from Brazilian Propolis

p-Coumaric Acid Derivatives

Diterpenic Acids

Caffeoylquinic Acids

Lignan

Flavonoids and Other Aromatic Compounds

Biological, Pharmacological and Therapeutic Activities of Propolis

Activity Against Bacteria and Fungi

**Activity Against Virus** 

Activity Against Pathogenic Protozoa and Helminthes

**Antitumoral Activity** 

Antioxidant Activity and Correlated Biological Properties

Tissue Regeneration Activity

Immunomodulatory Activity and Allergic Reaction

Other in Vitro and in Vivo Activities

Therapeutic Use of Propolis

Parasitic Infections

Gynecology

Odontology

Dermatology

Otorhinolaryngology and Opthalmology

Geriatry

Other Clinical Applications

Concluding Remarks

Acknowledgments

References

#### Correspondence

Laboratório de Biologia Celular, DUBC, Instituto Oswaldo Cruz, FIOCRUZ, Av. Brasil 4365, Manguinhos, 21045-900, Rio de Janeiro, RJ, Brazil.

 $FAX: 0055 \ 21 \ 22604434. \ \ Phone: 0055 \ 21 \ 25984624. \ \ E-mail: solange@ioc.fiocruz.br$ 

Financial Support: PAPES/FIOCRUZ, CNPq and FAPERJ.

#### **Abstract**

This review aims to present an update of propolis properties, with emphasis on Brazilian samples. It also brings attention to points, such as standardization protocols and scientific evidence, that needed to be further investigated in order to broaden the potential therapeutic use of this bee product. Propolis became a traditional remedy in folk medicine. In recent decades a great interest has arisen in more knowledge about its composition and therapeutic activities. Its composition is very complex, varying with the geographic region, with more than 300 constituents having been identified to date. The biological activity of propolis is associated mainly with phenolic compounds such as flavonoids and derivatives of hydroxycinnamic acids. In recent years, Brazilian propolis became the subject of increasing interest, due to its unusual chemical composition when compared with samples from other countries. Several compounds isolated presented a variety of biological activities, such as microbicidal, antioxidant and antitumoral. Although there is a huge amount of information about the chemistry and biological activity of propolis, its application in human and veterinary therapies has hardly changed. Propolis is used both in human and veterinary clinics in Eastern Europe countries, Cuba and in Uruguay. Most of the therapeutic effect of this resin is associated with microbicidal properties and the ability to scavenge free radicals. A multidisciplinary study correlating chemical composition, basic plant sources in different geographic regions, as well as and biological and pharmacological activities, open the possibility of a classification of a limited number of "chemical types" of propolis which will be possible only with the combined effort of the national and international scientific communities.

Key-Words: propolis, bee product, natural product, biological activity, microbicidal activity, clinical use.

# **Background**

Honeybees not only play an important role in the pollination of many crops, but also provide valuable products that are good for our health, such as honey, royal jelly, pollen and propolis. In some countries bee products are used successfully both in human and veterinary medicine and also as food complement. Many vegetables protect their leaves, flowers, fruits and buds by producing a resinous compound with potent antimicrobial, anti-putrefaction, waterproofing and heat-insulating properties. These resins are gathered from the gum of various plant sources by honeybees (*Apis mellifera L*.) that form pellets with their mandibles, probably mixing it with products of their salivary glands and with bee wax. So, propolis (bee glue) is an amalgamation of plant resins collected and transformed by bees, and is a strongly adhesive and resinous substance whose color varies from yellow-green to dark brown depending on its source and age. It is hard and brittle when cold, but becomes soft

and very sticky when warm. Bees use propolis as a glue to block holes and cracks in the beehive, to strengthen the border of their nests, to seal their honeycombs and to smoothe out internal walls. The resin also prevents growth of microrganisms and protects the hive entrance against intruders. It is also used as an embalming substance to cover bees' prey, preventing their decomposition, and the spread of diseases.

Propolis has been, used since ancient times, for example by Egyptians for embalming their dead. Also it was registered that Hippocrates (460-377 BC) prescribed its use to help heal external and internal sores and ulcers. Documentary evidence of its therapeutic use comes from the beginnings of the 20<sup>th</sup> century. It seems that the first use of propolis in the Modern Era was during the Boer War, when it was employed for disinfection of wounds and tissue regeneration (reviewed in Ghisalberti, 1979). Afterwards, it became a traditional remedy in folk medicine. Before the decade of 1980s, scientific reports about the composition and biological and therapeutic uses of propolis were not easily accessible, since most of them were published in Eastern European journals.

# **Chemical Composition**

The chemical composition of propolis has been the subject of several reviews (Ghisalberti, 1979; Greenaway et al., 1991; Marcucci, 1995). Its composition is very complex and more than 300 constituents have been identified to date. Its composition varies with the season and the vegetation in the areas in which it is collected. Among these constituents we found wax, resins, balsams, essential oils, amino acids and sugars, with a prevalence of flavonoids and derivatives of cinnamic acid. Variable amounts of sugars are usually present, probably introduced accidentally during propolis manufacture and/or passage of bees over the resin. Propolis is rich in inorganic elements; some of them involved in fundamental enzymatic systems, which could be associated with its biological activities (Scheller et al., 1989). Volatile compounds mainly sesquiterpenoids are present in low concentrations, but their aroma and biological activity make them potential markers for propolis characterization (Bankova et al., 1994).

The biological activity of propolis is associated mainly with phenolic compounds such as flavonoids and derivatives of hydroxycinnamic acids. Flavonoids are a group of polyphenolic conjugated aromatic compounds, diverse in chemical structure and characteristics, potent antioxidants, free-radical scavengers and metal chelators (reviewed in Harborne & Williams, 2000). Quercetin and other flavonoids have been reported to act as anti-inflammatory agents, to prevent atherosclerotic plaque formation and platelet aggregation, to promote relaxation of cardiovascular smooth muscle and to display antiviral, carcinostatic, anti-ulcer and anesthetic activities. Flavonoids give color and high visibility for attracting pollinators, such as

insect and birds, essentials for vegetal reproduction, and are present in considerable quantities in food and beverages. Epidemiological studies revealed that a diet rich in flavonoids is positively correlated with increased longevity and decreased incidence of cardiovascular disease (reviewed in Cook & Samman, 1996). Besides these polyphenolics, propolis also contains other phenolic compounds, such as hydroxycinnamic acids such as caffeic acid (3,4-dihydroxi cinammic acid), that are found in almost every plant, and are also potent antioxidant agents (Clifford, 1999). The caffeic acid phenethylester (CAPE) is another active ingredient of propolis with a broad spectrum of biological activities, including antioxidation and tumor-cell cytotoxicity (Chen et al., 2001).

The materials available for the "manufacture" of propolis include substances actively secreted by plants as well as those exuded from wounds. For this reason propolis composition varies depending on the vegetation of a given geographic area. When sources of propolis appear to be absent, bees use "propolis substitutes" such as certain man-made products like paint, asphalt and mineral oils. In temperate zones, bud exudates from different poplar trees (Populus spp) are the main sources of propolis (reviewed in Bankova et al., 2000). Samples from these regions are characterized by similar chemical composition, the main constituents being flavonoid aglycones, aromatic acids and their esters. In tropical regions there are no poplars or birches, so obviously bees have to find new plant sources (Wollenweber & Buchmann, 1997; Martos et al., 2000). In Venezuela, Tomas-Barberan et al. (1993) isolated polyprenylated benzophenones that are the main components of the resin exuded by the flowers of Clusia species, the main source for propolis in the studied region. The investigations on tropical propolis concentrated almost exclusively on the resin produced by Apis mellifera, but in South America, there are also indigenous stingless bees from the subfamily Meliponinae, which collect resinous materials from plants and mix it with bee wax and soil, giving rise to geopropolis (Tomas-Barberan et al., 1993; Bankova et al., 1998; Velikova et al., 2000).

# **Compounds Isolated from Brazilian Propolis**

Recently Brazilian propolis became the subject of increasing interest, were the main plant sources are *Araucaria* spp., *Baccharis* spp and *Eucalyptus* spp (reviewed in Bankova et al., 2000). Both the national and international markets of bee products are expanding in Brazil. The State of Paraná (South of Brazil) produces per year 8 thousand tons of honey, 37 tons of propolis and 900 tons of wax, valued in about US\$ 15 millions.

Following the classification of Bankova et al. (2000) for compounds isolated from tropical propolis, we will include in the present work those isolated from Brazilian samples that also had their biological activities investigated (*see next topic*). They were numbered and their formulae are displayed in Fig. 1 with names and references in Table 1.

Table 1: Bioactive compounds isolated from Brazilian propolis.

#	Compounds	References	
1	3,5-diprenyl-4-hydroxycinnamic acid	Aga et al., 1994	
2	3-prenyl-4-hydroxycinnamoloxycinammic acid	Aga et al., 1994	
3	2,2,-dimethyl-6-carboxyethenyl-2H-1-benzopyran	Aga et al., 1994	
4	2,2- dimethyl-6-carboxyethenyl-8-prenyl-2H-	Boudourova-Krasteva et al.,	
	benzopyrane (E and Z isomers)	1997	
5	3-prenyl-4-hydroxycinnamic acid	Marcucci et al., 2001	
6	ent-17-hydroxy-3,13Z-clerodadien-15-oic acid	Matsuno et al., 1997 <sup>b</sup>	
7	15-oxo-3,13Z-kolavadien-17-oic acid and E-isomer	Matsumo et al., 1997 <sup>b</sup>	
	(15-oxo-3Z,13E-kolavadien-17-oic acid)		
8	communic acid	Bankova et al., 1996ª	
9	imbricatoloic acid	Bankova et al., 1996ª	
10	isocupressic acid	Bankova et al., 1996ª	
11	acetylisocupressic acid	Bankova et al., 1996ª	
12	8(17),13 <i>E</i> -labdadien-15,19-dioic acid	Banskota et al., 1998	
13	8(17),13E -labdadien-15,19-dioic acid methyl ester	Banskota et al., 1998	
14	3,4-dicaffeoylquinic acid	Basnet et al., 1996 <sup>a</sup>	
15	3,4-dicaffeoylquinic methyl ester	Basnet et al., 1996ª	
16	3,5-dicaffeoylquinic acid	Basnet et al., 1996 <sup>a</sup>	
17	3,5-dicaffeoylquinic methyl ester	Basnet et al., 1996ª	
18	3-caffeoylquinic (chlorogenic) acid	Tatefuji et al., 1996	
19	4-caffeoylquinic acid	Tatefuji et al., 1996	
20	5-caffeoylquinic acid	Tatefuji et al., 1996	
21	4,5-dicaffeoylquinic acid	Tatefuji et al., 1996	
22	3-acetoxymethyl-5-[(E)-2-formylethen-1-yl]-2-(4-	Bankova et al., 1996 <sup>b</sup>	
	hydroxy-3-methoxyphenyl)-7-methoxy-2,3-	Banskota et al., 1998	
	dihydrobenzofuran		
23	3-[4-hydroxy-3-(3-oxo-but-1-enyl)-phenyl]-acrylic acid	Basnet et al., 1997	
24	benzofuran derivative A(1)	Banskota et al., 2000ª	
25	benzofuran derivative B(2)	Banskota et al., 2000ª	
26	coniferyl aldehyde	Banskota et al., 1998	
27	betuletol	Banskota et al., 1998	
28	kaempferide	Banskota et al., 1998	
29	ermanin	Banskota et al., 1998	

#### p-Coumaric Acid Derivatives

In 1994, Aga et al. from a sample collected in the State of São Paulo (SP) and extracted with ethyl acetate, isolated three derivatives of p-coumaric acid: 3,5-diprenyl-4-hydroxycinnamic acid (#1); 3-prenyl-4-hydroxycinnamoloxycinammic acid (#2) and 2,2,-dimethyl-6-carboxyethenyl-2H-1-benzopyran (#3). From a methanolic extract from another SP sample the isomers E and Z of 2,2-dimethyl-6-carboxyethenyl-8-prenyl-2H-benzopyrane (#4) were isolated (Boudourova-Krasteva et al., 1997). Using a sample from the State of Paraná (PR) extracted with methanol, besides the isolation of #1, #3 and #4, a new derivative 3-prenyl-4-hydroxycinnamic acid (#5) was also characterized (Marcucci et al., 2001). Also from a methanolic extract, but using a mixture of propolis samples from different regions in the South of Brazil, #1, named artepillin C. was isolated together with #4, which could be obtained by cyclization of the former compound (Matsuno et al., 1997a, 1998). Based on the content of kaempferol derivatives, p-coumaric acid and prenylated coumaric acids, forty samples from the South and South East of Brazil were classified in four groups (Marcucci et al., 2000).

## **Diterpenic Acids**

From the same methanolic extract employed to isolate **#1**, the following clerodane diterpenoids were isolated: *ent*-17-hydroxy-3,13*Z*-clerodadien-15-oic acid (**#6**), 15-oxo-3,13*Z*-kolavadien-17-oic acid (**#7**) and its *E*-isomer 15-oxo-3*Z*,13*E*-kolavadien-17-oic acid (Matsuno et al., 1997<sup>b</sup>).

Labdane-type diterpenic acids (communic, imbricatoloic, isocupressic and acetoxyisocupressic acids (#8-#11) typical from species of *Araucaria* were isolated from the methanolic extract of the PR sample (Bankova et al., 1996<sup>a</sup>). Banskota et al. (1998), also using a methanolic extract, isolated besides compounds #10 and #11, 8(17),13E-labdadien-15,19-dioic acid (#12) and it methyl ester (#13).

# **Caffeoylquinic Acids**

From a water extract Basnet et al. (1996<sup>a</sup>) characterized the compounds 3,4-dicaffeoylquinic acid (#14), its methyl ester (#15), 3,5-dicaffeoylquinic acid (#16) and its the methyl ester (#17). Also from a water extract of a sample from State of Amazonas State (North of Brazil), besides #14 and #16, the following caffeoylquinic acids were also characterized: 3-caffeoylquinic (chlorogenic), 4-caffeoylquinic, 5-caffeoylquinic and 4,5-dicaffeoylquinic acids (#18-21) (Tatefuji et al., 1996).

#### Lignan

Using the same extract from a previous work (Bankova et al., 1996<sup>a</sup>), Bankova et al. (1996<sup>b</sup>) reported the isolation of the lignan 3-acetoxymethyl-5-[(*E*)-2-formylethen-1-yl]-2-(4-hydroxy-3-methoxyphenyl)-7-methoxy-2,3-dihydrobenzofuran (#22). This lignan was also isolated from a methanolic extract from a different Brazilian sample by Banskota et al. (1998).

## Flavonoids and Other Aromatic Compounds

The aromatic compound 3-[4-hydroxy-3-(3-oxo-but-1-enyl)-phenyl]-acrylic acid (#23), known commonly as propol, was isolated from a water extract of Brazilian propolis (Basnet et al., 1997). From a methanolic extract two benzofuran derivatives (#24 and #25) and coniferyl aldehyde (#26) were isolated as well as the flavonoids betuletol (#27), kampferide (#28) and ermanin (#29) (Banskota et al., 1998, 2000<sup>a</sup>). Bankova et al. (1996<sup>a</sup>) also reported the isolation of compound #26. Flavonoids are present in small quantities in Brazilian samples (reviewed in Bankova et al., 2000).

# Biological, Pharmacological and Therapeutic Activities of Propolis

Reports about the biological and pharmacological properties of propolis appeared in the early 1900's. Since this period, hundreds of papers dealing with this matter have been published (reviewed in Ghisalberti, 1979; Marcucci, 1995; Burdock,

1998). Although at an early stage, studies of propolis have been extensively carried out in Eastern Europe; nowadays many research groups have investigated the versatile properties of propolis extracts and components. A substantial part of these activities is connected with phenolic compounds, such as flavonoids and derivatives of caffeic acid.

In this section we summarize the results about the biological and therapeutic activities of bee glue, with special emphasis on studies with Brazilian propolis. Propolis is usually separated from the wax by extraction into 70% ethanol, and is known as propolis balsam. Its biological effects are due, mainly, to more than 100 biologically active elements isolated from it; and possibly the components reinforce the effects of each other, a known phenomena in natural medicinal mixtures. The majority of the studies deal with extracts using ethanol, which throughout this review will be referred to as ethanolic extract of propolis (EEP). This is a generic name not associated with any standard procedure for its preparation. Furthermore, many works also deal with both the activities of compounds isolated from the resin and with commercial compounds, such as flavonoids and derivatives from caffeic acid. Especially in relation to EEP, I would like to stress that in several reports the method of the extract preparation and its concentration are not described, hampering comparison between results obtained by different researchers. It is important to point out that the microbicidal activity of a given extract depends on the solvent used in its preparation (Tosi et al., 1996).

#### **Activity Against Bacteria and Fungi**

The activity of propolis and its components against a broad range of bacteria has been a subject of intense research, with more than 90 papers published between 1950 and 1979 indicating that Gram+ bacteria are more susceptible than Gram- (Lavie, 1957; Cizmarik & Trupl, 1976<sup>a</sup>; Scheller et al., 1977<sup>a</sup>; Hegazi et al., 2000). However, this activity varies between samples collected from different geographic regions, and is dependent on the pH of the culture medium (Meresta & Meresta, 1980; Glinski & Meresta, 1993). Comparison between EEP obtained from different propolis samples and isolated compounds showed that the presence of flavonoids and derivatives of caffeic acid is associated with the bactericidal activity (Villanueva et al., 1964; Bosio et al., 2000). A synergistic effect of different propolis samples with commercial antibiotics was reported (Kivalkina & Gorshunova, 1973; Scheller et al., 1999); and also bacteria resistant to these drugs were susceptible to propolis (Shub et al., 1981).

The mechanism of antibacterial action of propolis has been the subject of only a few publications. Takaisi-Kikuni & Schilcher (1994) showed through electron microscopy and micro-calorimetric assays that EEP interferes with the division of *Streptococcus agalactie* through the formation of pseudo-multicellular forms, cytoplasm

disorganization, inhibition of protein synthesis, leading to lysis of the bacteria. Mirzoeva et al. (1997) found that EEP and some of phenolic components affect the bioenergetical status of the membrane by inhibition of the membrane potential leading to increased permeability of the membrane to ions and to immobility of *Bacillus subtilis*.

Together with studies of bacteria, the fungicidal effect of European propolis samples was also investigated, indicating activity against different species including *Candida, Microsporum, Mycobacteria, Trichophyton, Fusarium* and other dermatophytes (Cizmarik & Trupl, 1976<sup>b</sup>; Kujumgiev et al., 1999). A synergistic effect with conventional anti-mycotic drugs was also observed (Holderma & Kedzia, 1987; Scheller et al., 1998), and as in the case of bacteria, the fungicidal effect was associated with the presence of phenolic components (Metzner et al., 1977; Ravn et al., 1989).

Since several dental and periodontal disorders are associated with bacterial and fungal etiologies, different groups studied the *in vitro* effect of propolis against oral microrganisms (reviewed in Eley, 1999). Also, animal models were used to investigate the effect on dental pulp regeneration and on caries, and also as a dentifrice and mouth rinse inhibiting of plaque formation (Ilewicz et al., 1986; Ikeno et al., 1991; Ota et al., 1997).

More recently the microbicidal study of Brazilian propolis and of isolated compounds have received great attention. In four samples collected in SP and PR, the activity against *S. aureus* was concentrated in polar compounds fractions rich in phenols, and in the volatile fraction. This activity was similar to that of Bulgarian samples, in spite of the significant differences in the chemical composition between resins from both countries (Bankova et al., 1995). In two samples from indigenous bees of the genus *Melipona* collected in the States of Piauí and PR, the EEP and the volatile oils showed activity against *S. aureus* (Kujumgiev et al., 1999). These authors also reported the effect against *C. albicans* in six samples of Brazilian propolis, independent of differences in their chemical composition.

The activity against *S. aureus* and *C. albicans* of EEP in a sample collected in SP was similar to that of the secretions of local plants (*Baccharis dracunfolia* and *Eucalyptus citriodora*) (Bankova et al., 1999), showing that knowledge about plant sources could be useful as a basis for the chemical standardization of propolis. Assays with SP samples collected in different periods showed no seasonal effect against bacteria; and as reported by other authors, higher activity was found against Gram+bacteria in comparison with Gram- (Sforcin et al., 2000).

EEP from Brazilian propolis was also assayed against microrganisms isolated from human patients. Comparing 200 samples of bacteria the susceptibility order was: S. aureus > S. typhimurium > E. coli, whereas among 96 samples of fungus, the order was C. albicans > C. guilliermondii > C. parapsilosis (Fernandes Jr. et al., 1995).

In comparison between hydroalcoholic extracts prepared with different proportions of the solvents from a sample collected in the State of Minas Gerais, those showing higher activity against *S. aureus* presented an ethanol content between 60 and 70% (Park & Ikegaki, 1998). Interestingly, after fractionation of samples collected in different regions of Brazil, the most active fraction against *S. aureus* was that obtained in hexane (Fontana et al., 2000), suggesting to the authors that the bactericidal activity was due to a synergistic effect among compounds of different chemical groups, since hexane is not the ideal solvent for extraction of phenolic compounds.

The three derivatives of cinammic acid (Fig. 1) isolated by Aga et al. (1994) from an SP sample were active against *Bacillus cereus*, *Enterobacter aerogenes*, *Microsporum gypseum* and the cutaneous fungus *Arthroderma benhamiae*, with compound #1 presenting a broad spectrum of activity against bacteria. From samples collected in PR, besides compounds #1-#3, a new derivative was characterized (#5) with all of them active against *S. aureus* e *Streptococcus faecalis*, yet presenting a low effect against *E. coli* (Marcucci et al., 2001). The four labdane-type diterpenic acids #8-#11 isolated by Bankova et al. (1996<sup>a</sup>) from a PR sample exhibited activity against *S. aureus*.

Recently, a series of studies about Brazilian propolis and microrganisms of odontological importance has been published. Formation of dental caries is associated with oral microrganisms and extracellular polysaccharides, synthesized from sucrose by glycosyltransferases from *Streptococcus* spp. EEP prepared from samples in different States in Brazil were active *in vitro* against *Streptococcus mutans* and *Streptococcus sanguis* and inhibited the activity of glycosyltransferases (Park et al., 1998; Koo et al., 2000). A sample from the State of Rio de Janeiro controlled the levels of microrganisms and the inflammatory process and led to healing of dental pulp in rats (Bretz et al., 1998). Propolis from the State of Rio Grande do Sul assayed in desalivated rats infected with *Streptococcus sobrinus* led to a statistically significant reduction in the number of caries in comparison with control group (Koo et al., 1999).

#### **Activity Against Virus**

Propolis from different origins interferes with the reproduction of different viruses, such as those causing influenza and hepatitis B and also against herpes simplex virus (HSV) type I, avian and herpes zoster viruses (reviewed in Amoros et al., 1992). Further studies showed that propolis, flavonoids (quercetin and kaempferol) and the caffeolics (CAPE and isoprenyl caffeate) interfere with the replication of human immunodeficiency virus (HIV-1), inhibiting the enzyme HIV-1 integrase (Fesen et al., 1993; Harish et al., 1997; Xu et al., 2000). Compounds with the molecular moiety of caffeic acid were considered as new family of natural antiviral compounds (Serkedjieva et al., 1992).

Studying six samples of Brazilian propolis, besides the determination of bactericidal and fungicidal activity, Kujumgiev et al. (1999) reported that four of them were active against avian influenza virus, while two were inactive.

## **Activity Against Pathogenic Protozoa and Helminthes**

There are several reports about the effect of European propolis on protozoa that cause diseases in humans and animals such as trichomoniasis, toxoplasmosis, giardiasis, Chagas disease, leishmaniasis and malaria. EEP was activity in mice infected with *Toxoplasma gondii* (Starzyk et al., 1977) and *in vitro* against different species of *Trichomonas* (Popeskovic, 1978; Starzyk, et al., 1977) and *Giardia lamblia* (Torres et al., 1990).

Against *Trypanosoma cruzi*, the etiological agent of Chagas disease, extracts prepared both in ethanol as in dimethylsulphoxide from a North American commercial sample were active *in vitro* against the three forms of the parasite and also against infection in macrophages and heart cells (Higashi & De Castro, 1994). In experimentally *T. cruzi*-infected mice, the oral administration of EEP up to 1.2 g propolis/kg per day or the extract offered *ad libitum* in the drinking water (up to 4 g/kg per day) or added to the food (up to 5 g/kg per day) did not reduce the parasitemia kinetics nor the survival rate of the animals (De Castro & Higashi, 1995). This negative result in *in vivo* experiments indicated the need of resin fractionation guided by biological activity and led to the purification of four phenolics compounds (#1, #3-5) (Fig. 1) isolated from Brazilian propolis that were assayed *in vitro* against *T. cruzi*, but showed levels of activity bellow that of crystal violet the standard drug (Marcucci et al., 2001).

Extracts from a Bulgarian sample were analyzed by the technique of high temperature high-resolution gas chromatography coupled with mass spectrometry (Pereira et al., 1999) and the EEP presented with a high content of flavonoids. Its activity against trypomastigotes of *T. cruzi* was similar to that of crystal violet. The acetone extract was even more active, and showed significant differences in the number and relative concentrations of propolis components in comparison with EEP. The methanolic extract presented a very low level of activity against trypomastigotes, which was associated with the high concentration of mono and disaccharides, probably resulting in a low concentration of potentially active compounds (De Castro et al., 2001).

In studies performed in Brazil, it was reported that EEP was effective against the proliferation and differentiation *in vitro* of *Leishmania donovani*, the agent of visceral leishmaniasis, and in experimental infections in hamsters caused a decrease in the parasite load in the liver and spleen and also recovery of the normal levels of leukocytes and polymorphonuclear cells (Sartori et al., 1994). The EEP from the Bulgarian sample, assayed against *T. cruzi* (De Castro et al., 2001), was also active against promastigotes of different species of *Leishmania* (Machado et al., 2000).

Figure 1.
Bioactive compounds isolated from Brazilian propolis

The treatment of *Plasmodium berghei*-infected mice did not alter the course of infection (Woisky, 1995). On the other hand, it was reported that propolis had a prophylactic efficiency against malaria in endemic areas in Brazil (Gama, 1993) (see next topic).

In rabbits infected with intestinal eimerias, addition of propolis to the drinking water reduced the number of oocysts on the feces (Hollands et al., 1984), and in guinea pigs infected with *Ascaris suum* and treated with propolis, a reduction in the number of larvae in relation to control animals occurred (Benkova et al., 1989).

#### **Antitumoral Activity**

There are several reports about the effect of propolis against tumor lineages (Hladon et al., 1980). Parallel studies with flavonoids showed that activity against HeLa cells presented the following susceptibility order: quercetin > rhamentin >> galangin (Ban et al., 1983). The survival rate in mice bearing Ehrlich carcinoma and treated with EEP from a Polish sample was higher than in those treated with bleomycin (Scheller et al., 1989a). Dietary administration of propolis in a female rat model of two-stage drug-induced carcinogenesis led to a significantly decreased incidence and multiplicity of mammary carcinomas (Kimoto et al., 1999). The majority of work in this area deals with propolis components, mainly flavonoids and caffeolics. Quercetin was shown to inhibit the proliferation of tumor cell lines and to potentiate the effect of conventional anti-tumor drugs (reviewed in Wang, 2000). Also dietary administration of flavonoids reduced the frequency of tumors induced by different carcinogens (Makita et al., 1996; Webster et al., 1996). CAPE that was also effective in vitro in different tumor lineages, led to inhibition of protein and nucleic acid synthesis and induction of apoptosis (Su et al., 1995; Nakayama et al., 1996). On the other hand, only a small effect was detected in normal cell counterparts (Grunberger et al., 1988).

In relation to components isolated from Brazilian propolis, compound #1 (Fig. 1) was cytotoxic to tumoral cell lines, including leukemia cells (Matsuno et al., 1997<sup>a</sup>). Apoptotic bodies and DNA fragmentation were observed in treated cell lines and although this compound inhibited the growth of mitogen-stimulated normal blood lymphocytes, it was not toxic towards normal lymphocytes (Kimoto et al., 2001). Treatment of mice with transplanted solid tumors led to suppression of tumor growth, apoptosis, necrosis, and activation of the immune system (Kimoto et al., 1998). Both propolis and #1, in models of drug-induced renal and pulmonary carcinogenesis, prevented the oxidative damage and development of pathology (Kimoto et al., 2000).

The clerodane diterpenoid **#6** (Fig. 1) inhibited the growth of a panel of tumor cells, while corresponding normal cells were less affected; and its topical application to mice with drug-induced skin tumors decreased the incidence of the tumors by inhibition of DNA synthesis (Mitamura et al., 1996). The benzopyranic

derivative (**#4**) and the two isomeric diterpenoids (**#7**) (Fig. 1) isolated by the same group were also active against human tumor lines (Matsuno et al., 1997<sup>a,b</sup>), being the Zisomer of **#7** 7-fold more active than the Eisomer (Hirota et al., 2000). This compound inhibited also a human breast cancer lineage; and this effect was associated with induction of apoptosis, a decrease in the level of the estrogen receptor, and inhibition of estrogen response element promoter activity, suggesting a potential role in breast cancer therapy (Luo et al., 2001).

From a methanolic extract of Brazilian propolis, a fractionation guided by cytotoxic activity led to identification of four compounds (#26-29) (Fig. 1) with high activity against murine carcinoma and human fibrosarcoma lineages (Banskota et al., 1998). From the same extract, the lignan #22 and the benzofuranes #24 and #25 (Fig. 1) showed only a mild cytotoxic property against these two strains (Banskota et al., 2000b). The methanolic extract was more cytotoxic than the aqueous one (Banskota et al., 2000b).

### **Antioxidant Activity and Correlated Biological Properties**

Free radicals are highly reactive species that are normally neutralized in the body by anti-oxidant enzymes and the nutrient-derived anti-oxidant molecules. Due to their reactivity, they can damage cellular components and are implicated in a variety of diseases. Several reports showed the *in vitro* anti-oxidative capacity of propolis using different types of assays (Scheller et al., 1990; Pascual et al., 1994; Krol et al., 1996; Moreno et al., 2000). This capacity is partially attributed to propolis radical scavenging properties of propolis, and to the high content of phenolics present in the resin (reviewed in RiceEvans, 2001). All the activities of propolis described below (see the following sub-items) were associated with its property of scavenging free-radicals.

Addition of Brazilian propolis to rat chow deficient in vitamin E led to increased levels of vitamin C in both the plasma and various organs of the animals and also to reduction of lipidic hydroperoxides in the intestine (Sun et al., 2000), indicating that propolis components behave as a hydrophilic antioxidant. From an aqueous extract of Brazilian propolis, fractionation guided by the antioxidative capacity led to isolation of the aromatic compound **#23** (Fig. 1) that was more potent than vitamins C and E, standard antioxidant agents (Basnet et al., 1997). Treatment of macrophages with **#23** led to reduction of the oxidation of low density lipoprotein and blockage of the activation of the transcriptional factor NF-kB, suggesting its involvement in neutralization of oxidative stress, preventing an apoptotic process (Claus et al., 2000).

Anti-inflammatory activity: Scavenging of free radicals, generated by neutrophils in inflammatory processes is the principal mechanism of anti-inflammatory

drugs. An aqueous extract of propolis inhibited the enzyme dihydrofolate reductase as several non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs; and the presence of caffeic acid was associated with the protective functions of propolis (Strehl et al., 1994).

In different *in vivo* murine models of inflammation, European propolis showed anti-inflammatory activity. These models included formaldehyde-induced arthritis, acute inflammation induced by zymosan and paw edema induced by prostaglandin  $\rm E_2$ , carrageenan or radiation; and in some cases propolis presented an activity similar to conventional anti-inflammatory drugs (Scheller et al., 1989<sup>b</sup>; Ledon et al., 1997). The topical treatment of rabbits after cornea cauterization with aqueous extract (Hepsen et al., 1999) or EEP (Ozturk et al., 2000) healed the lesion and reduced the inflammatory process, similarly to dexamethasone. Hepsen et al. (1999) suggested that this could be partially due to an inhibitory effect of propolis on cyclo-oxygenase and lipo-oxygenase activities. *In vitro* experiments complemented these findings, showing inhibition of the release of prostaglandins, leukotrienes and histamine by neutrophils and macrophages by propolis, with CAPE as the most potent modulator (Khayyal et al., 1993; Mirzoeva & Calder, 1996).

Among 14 Brazilian commercial extracts, four of them presented an antiinflammatory effect similar to indomethacin in arachdonic acid-induced ear edema in mice (Menezes et al., 1999). Brazilian propolis showed a similar effect in rats in drug-induced paw edema and in a chronic inflammatory model (Park et al., 1996; Park & Kahng, 1999).

Hepatoprotective activity: Both in in vitro systems and in rodent models, different propolis formulations showed a hepatoprotective effect that was associated with the anti-oxidative properties of the resin (Rodriguez et al., 1997; Sugimoto et al., 1999). Rats with toxic liver damage treated with a pediatric formulation of propolis showed improvement in hepatic secretion of bile and cholic acids (Drogovoz et al., 1994).

A water extract of Brazilian propolis showed strong hepatoprotective activity against  $CCl_4$ -toxicity in rats and D-galactosamine/LPS-induced liver injury in mice (Basnet et al., 1996<sup>a</sup>). This extract also protected pancreatic  $\beta$ -cells against streptozotocin in rats, with an activity similar to nicotinamide (Matsushige et al., 1996<sup>a</sup>). *In vitro* studies with rat hepatocytes treated with  $CCl_4$  guided the fractionation and isolation of four dicaffeoyl quinic acid derivatives (#14-#17) (Fig. 1), that were more potent than the standard drug glycyrhizin (Basnet et al., 1996<sup>b</sup>). In studies with human leukocytes, the hepatoprotective effect of these derivatives was associated with inhibition of interleukin 1 (IL-1) generation and nitric oxide synthase activity (Matsushige et al., 1996<sup>b</sup>).

Labdane-type diterpenic acids (**#10-13**) isolated from a methanolic extract showed a protective effect in mouse hepatocytes against death induced by

D-galactosamine/tumor necrosis factor-a (TNF- $\alpha$ ), that was correlated to a pronounced effect against free radicals (Banskota et al., 2000<sup>a</sup>).

Cardioprotective activity: Cancer therapy with doxorubicin (Dox) is limited by development of cardiomyopathy due to generation of free radicals through self-reduction of the drug. In this context, rats with Dox-induced cardiomyopathy treated with propolis presented reduction of creatine phosphokinase, aspartate aminotransferase, blood and tissue glutathione levels, and thiobarbituric-acid-reactive substances, effects similar to those caused by rutin, a known cardioprotective flavonoid (Chopra et al., 1995).

Radioprotective activity: Administration before or after  $\gamma$ -irradiation of EEP, prepared from a Polish propolis sample, protected experimental mice, returning leukocyte counts and spleen plaque-forming activity to normal levels. All the animals survived while non-treated mice died within 2 weeks (Scheller et al., 1989<sup>b</sup>). Treatment of rats with an aqueous extract before and after exposure to  $\gamma$ -irradiation markedly reduced the anti-inflammatory response to carrageenan, the malondial environmental markedly reduced the anti-inflammatory response to carrageenan, the malondial environmental the release of superoxide dismutase (El-Ghazaly & Khayyal, 1995).

## **Tissue Regeneration Activity**

The regenerative property of European propolis applied to tissues, such as cartilage, bone, conjunctive and epithelium, has been reported in animal models (Scheller et al., 1977<sup>b</sup>; Stojko et al., 1977). This property was associated with scavenging of free radicals, an anti-inflammatory effect and a general stimulation of tissue metabolism (Kaminski et al., 1977). Another ointment composed of propolis, urea and trypsin applied to burned areas in experimental animals by Troshev et al. (1990) led to tissue regeneration with good rate and quality. Standardization of preparation of a propolis extract and also of skin-healing formulations of propolis as ointments, emulsions and gels have been investigated (Arvouet-Grand et al., 1994; Vennat et al., 1998). The wound-healing properties of this extract were assayed in rabbits (Arvouet-Grand et al., 1993<sup>a</sup>).

Gabrys et al. (1986) considered that, besides phenolic compounds, the high level of aminoacids in Polish propolis is also involved in regenerative processes, such as arginine-stimulating protein synthesis and proline, the main component of collagen and elastin in the conjunctive tissue.

An ointment containing Brazilian propolis, confrei and honey implanted in rats inside a polyethylene tube led to regeneration of conjunctive tissue (Magro Filho et al., 1987). Using both extract and ointment prepared from Brazilian samples in the model of surgical lesions in mice, a rate of cicatrisation higher than in untreated animals was observed (Damian et al., 2000).

# **Immunomodulatory Activity and Allergic Reaction**

In *in vitro* and *in vivo* models an immunostimulatory activity of propolis has been described. Administration of EEP from a Polish sample by intraperitoneal route (ip)

led to a dose-dependent increase in antibody production after immunization of mice with sheep red blood cells (Scheller et al., 1988).

Using an aqueous extract, propolis administered by oral route enhanced the survival rate of mice infected with different species of bacteria and with C. albicans, even in studies with Klebisiella pneumoniae when the animals were treated with the immunosuppresssor cyclophosphamide (Dimov et al., 1992). Since the extract showed no effect on the growth of K. pneumoniae, the authors suggest that the in vivo protection was due to stimulation of defense mechanisms. The stimulation of macrophage phagocytosis and of IL-1 and decrease of TNF levels by this extract reinforced their hypothesis of a non-specific activation of macrophages (Dimov et al., 1991). In vitro it was further observed inhibition of the classical pathway and of the alternative complement pathways with the effect dependent on the source of complement, the time and temperature of the assay, while in mice, interference on the alternative pathway was strongly dependent on the route of administration (Ivanovska et al., 1995a). Administration of propolis (ip) plus cinnamic acid and lysine (CN:Ly) also protected the animals from inoculation with K. pneumoniae and the activity of CN:Ly was associated with increased proliferation of thymic and splenic lymphocytes and release of IL-1 and IL-2 (Ivanovska et al., 1995b).

A Brazilian propolis extract induced increased cytotoxicity of natural killer (NK) cells against murine lymphoma and stimulated antibody production (Sforcin, 1998). The *in vivo* treatment of mice with EEP caused an increase of IFN- $\gamma$  levels, associated with a more efficient response to infections (Orsi et al., 2000).

The caffeoylquinic acid derivatives isolated from Brazilian propolis (#18-21) (Fig. 1) presented stimulatory activity peritoneal macrophages, with increase on their spreading and mobility (Tatefuji et al., 1996). Compound #1 (Fig. 1) besides microbicidal (Aga et al., 1994) and antitumoral activities (Matsuno et al., 1997<sup>a</sup>), in vivo led to activation of the immune system, associated with the enhancement of T helper cells (Kimoto et al., 1998).

Like pollen, propolis may be dangerous to people with hypersentivity to it. The resin can act as a contact allergen, both in occupational (beekeepers, beeswax modeling, string instrument makers) and in non-occupational uses (pharmaceutical and cosmetic products) (reviewed in Hausen et al., 1987<sup>a</sup>, Hausen, 2001). Several works dealt with the isolation and characterization of propolis allergens that are in most of the cases associated with derivatives of caffeic acid, such as LB-1 consisting of 3 isomeric pentenyl caffeates: 3-methyl-2-butenyl caffeate, 2-methyl-2-butenyl and 3-methyl-3-butenyl caffeate (Hausen et al., 1987<sup>b</sup>; Hausen & Wollenweber, 1988). The catecholic moiety of these esters was found to increase the sensitizing capacity in comparison with esters of ferulic acid, which are also present in propolis. Hansson et al. (1995) analyzed the reaction of 3-methyl-2-butenyl caffeate with proteins, such as glutathione and cystein, and observed the formation of thiol adducts. These authors

suggest that this caffeate is a pro-hapten that forms a complete antigen after oxidation to caffeate quinone and addition to nucleophylic proteins. The mechanism of the hypersensibility response is associated with the formation of haptens, that triggers an anaphylatic process, mediated by IgE. The effector cells of IgE stimulation are mastocytes, which by release of histamine and other chemical mediators, recruit eosinophils. For cell-mediated responses, T cells, upon stimulation by allergens, liberate pro-inflammatory cytokines. The transductional mechanims coupled with the hypersensibility response to propolis are not completely elucidated but probably involve increase in intracellular calcium levels associated with the reactional cascade of phospholipase C and/or D (N. Paulino, personal communication).

# Other in Vitro and in Vivo Activities

EEP showed a dose-dependent anti-mutagenic activity in studies with Salmonella typhimurium exposed to different drugs (Jeng et al., 2000), and it was suggested that propolis could block cytochrome P-450 activity and/or interact with mutagens leading to inactive complexes.

A low toxicity of EEP was detected in experimental animals; for example, the  $\rm LD_{50}$  was higher than 7 g/kg for mice (Arvouet-Grand et al., 1993b) and higher than 15 g/kg for rats (Kedzia et al., 1990). EEP showed no immunogenic or allergic properties for rabbits that received oral doses between 75 and 7500 mg propolis/kg every other day for two weeks (Scheller et al., 1977c). When the extract (100-500 mg/kg) was administered to rats and mice, it caused a reduction in blood pressure, a sedative action and maintenance of serum glucose levels (Kedzia et al., 1990).

The addition of pollen and propolis to the diet of rats with nutritional ferropenic anemia produced a positive effect on weight gain, improved the digestive utilization of iron and the regeneration efficiency of hemoglobin (Haro et al., 2000).

In murine models, protection against stomach ulcers have been reported (Kedzia et al., 1990). In experimental dogs, the local application of propolis as an oil mixture cured external otitis (Heinze et al., 1996). Diterpenic acids isolated from Brazilian propolis (#10-13) (Fig. 1) also showed activity against *Helicobacter pylori* (Banskota et al., 2001).

A complete anesthesia of the rabbit cornea was described using EEP and this effect lasted for 1 h, being more effective than procaine (Prokopovich, 1957). A Cuban EEP showed an analgesic effect in mice using both the model of acetic-acid-induced pain and the hot plate assay (Ledon et al., 1997). Park & Kahng (1999) reported also analgesic effect of a propolis extract assessed by tail-flick test in rats, an effect comparable to those of prednisolone and acetyl salicylic acid. EEP from a sample collected in the South of Brazil showed an anti-hyperalgesic effect in mice treated with acetic acid, kaolin or zymosan, measuring the number of abdominal

constrictions. This extract also significantly inhibited capsaicin-induced pain and reversed the hyperalgesia induced by bradykinin (De Campos et al., 1998).

Three *p*-coumaric acid derivatives isolated from a sample from PR (**#1**, **#3** and **#5**) (Fig. 1) presented *in vitro* a relaxant effect on smooth muscle using preparations of guinea pig trachea (Marcucci et al., 2001).

# Therapeutic use of propolis

Most of the reports about clinical use of propolis come from countries in Eastern Europe, as well as Cuba and Uruguay. I tried to develop this subject in terms of separate topics, but they are interrelated; and it must be kept in mind that the therapeutic effect of this resin is mostly based in its microbicidal properties. In recent years a renewed interest in the therapeutic activities of propolis has arisen due to the role of antioxidants in preventive medicine.

#### **Parasitic infections**

In the 1980s several reports described the clinical use of propolis in the treatment of viral infections. For 35 years the Stefan S. Nicolau Institute of Virology (Roumenia) used bee-product preparations for the treatment of mainly influenza and herpes (Esanu, 1984). Local application of "Nivcrisol-D", a propolis product from this Institute, showed an excellent effect on recurrent cutaneous and zoster herpes, with decrease of duration of the local eruption and reduction of pain (Giurcaneau et al., 1988). Treatment of common cold infections caused a 2.4-fold shorter mean recovery time in relation to the placebo group (Szmeja et al., 1989).

The treatment of infection by *Trichophyton* on the hairy zone of the head with an ointment containing propolis led to results considered excellent in 96 out 110 patients (Bolshakova, 1975).

In Cuba, a preparation named "Propolisina" was effective against giardiasis in children (n=48) and adults (n=90), with cure rates between 52% and 60%, while with the standard drug tinidazole this value was 40% (Miyares et al., 1988).

Although treatment with propolis of experimental animals infected with *Plasmodium berghei* did not alter the course of infection (Woisky, 1995), there is a report by a beekeeper about the use of propolis in an endemic area of human malaria (*Plasmodium falciparum*) in the North of Brazil (Gama, 1993). He mentioned that propolis was employed as an insect repellent, that its daily use prevented himself from contracting malaria, and that in the absence of specific drugs, administration of EEP to infected people led to recovery from the crisis and also precluded recurrence of the disease.

In the veterinary clinics, intra-mammary infusion of a propolis preparation named "Provet" (Apipharma, Hungry) was effective in the treatment of bovine mastitis

due to different pathogens, but not against Gram+ bacteria (Kegl et al., 1993). Treatment with a dimethylsulfoxide extract from Brazilian propolis resulted in clinical and microbiological cure in 84.8% of cases of bovine mastitis that involved the alga *Prototheca zopffi* (Langoni et al., 1995).

#### **Gynecology**

The results of in vitro studies (Starzyk, et al., 1977; Popeskovic, 1978) were confirmed by successful treatments of vaginal inflammations with *Trichomonas* etiology. The use of intra-vaginal tablets containing propolis in the treatment of trichomoniasis showed a fast cure with a great reduction of the inflammatory process (Such yet al., 1974). Patients with gynecological infections when treated with propolis solution (n=45) showed a higher percent of cure, with the rate of recovery in cases of vaginitis at 80% and in cases of cervical erosion, 39%. Using sulphadevaginol (n=45), the percentages were, respectively, 59% and 20% (Zawadzki et al., 1973). In another report the treatment of bacterial vaginitis with EEP led to a higher percent of cure (92%) than with sulphadevaginol (64%), and for mycotic vaginitis it was 80%, similar to nystatin (Krasnodebski et al., 1986). The same extract when applied to patients (n=27) submitted to an electro-coagulation procedure due to cervicitis led to total recovery after 8 weeks, while for those that did not use the extract (n=50), the recovery was only 13%. The authors associated the results obtained with propolis with tissue regeneration, anti-inflammatory response, and microbicidal effect (Krasnodebski et al., 1986).

In Cuba, patients with acute cervicitis and positive vaginal smears for gynecological infections were treated with vaginal dressings containing 5% of propolis. This treatment led to 100% of negativation of the smears, achieving 90% of the patients a total epithelization of the cervix within 10 days of treatment (Santana Perez et al., 1995). The association of propolis with conventional drugs in cases of diffuse inflammation and uterine cervix ulcerations (n=137) led Roman et al. (1989) to report good to excellent results in 57% of the cases and satisfactory results in 20%.

In Uruguay different formulations of propolis applied to patients with herpes simplex, buccal or vaginal, reduced the recovery period, parallel infection and in several cases, no recidive was reported (Fierro, 1995).

In a controlled multi-center study, the treatment of men and women with recurrent genital HSV type 2 infections with an ointment of Canadian propolis was more effective in healing herpetic lesions, and in reducing local symptoms than with an acyclovir and a placebo ointments (Vynograd et al., 2000).

## **Odontology**

Propolis use in dental practice in Eastern Europe and Cuba is associated with antiseptic activity, together with anti-inflammatory and anesthetic effects. EEP

mixed with toothpaste and with a mouthwash preparation improved their antiseptic properties and also the treatment of gingivitis (Panzeri et al., 1998). Murray et al. (1997) analyzed the effect of a propolis-containing mouth rinse on inhibition of plaque formation and found that the results were only marginally better than in the untreated group.

EEP from a Polish sample was used in cases of dentin hypersensitivity, dental caries for direct capping of pulp, as well as in endodontics (Ilewicz et al., 1982). Toothpaste made from an alcoholic solution of propolis and zincoxyde exerts effects on the capping of the dental pulp similar to zinc eugenate, being the treatment monitored by X-ray analysis (Ionita et al., 1990). Kosehko and Kosovich (1990) suggested the addition of EEP to the filler for root-canal filling, since clinical and X-ray examinations have demonstrated its high efficacy in acute and chronic forms of periodontitis. This propolis-filler showed also an anesthetizing effect, did not stain the tooth crown and promoted the regeneration of the bone structures. In Cuba, a propolis formulation named "Propolan" also was effective for the treatment of chronic gingivitis (Martinez-Silveira et al., 1988). A mouth rinse containing 5% Brazilian propolis aided the repair of intra-buccal surgical wounds and exerted pain-killing and anti-inflammatory effects in patients submitted to sulcoplasty (Magro-Filho & De Carvalho, 1994).

## **Dermatology**

Propolis has a wide use for dermatological problems, applied as an ointment or as an alcoholic solution. It has the capacity of wound healing and promotion of tissue regeneration in problems such as eczema, dermatitis and second degree burns (Khachaturov & Gudkov, 1969). It is also employed in cosmetology as face creams, ointments, lotions and solutions (reviewed in Hausen et al., 1987a). An ointment containing 3% of propolis led to excellent results on the treatment of dermatitis (n=109) with bacterial etiology (Chlorazak et al., 1971). In the treatment of 460 patients with panaritium, abscesses or infectious wounds propolis was added to the routine procedure, enhancing both anti-inflammatory and microbicidal activities (Tsarev et al., 1985).

In 22 cases of hip joint with aseptic necrosis of thighbone, intra-articular injections of EEP from a Polish sample gave good results (Przybylski & Scheller, 1985), suggesting to the authors that the use of propolis together with the conventional treatment in advanced stages of necrosis and also in early-stage cases of the illness that no consent to surgery was given by the patients.

In Cuba the treatment of children with infected surgical wounds or with mucositis or dermatitis showed the effect of propolis on tissue regeneration and against pathogenic microorganisms (González, 1999). In Uruguay, patients with infected wounds that received local treatment with propolis together with a systemic antibiotic presented better progress than those treated only with the antibiotic (Fierro, 1995).

In Brazil it was also reported that propolis caused a bactericidal effect and accelerated tissue regeneration in patients with decubitus scabs (Azevedo et al., 1986). Also different propolis formulations were employed in dressings after plastic surgery and in the treatment of infected lesions, leading to healing of the scars and wounds (Mujalli, 1999).

## **Otorhinolaryngology and Opthalmology**

Of special interest is the activity of propolis against bacterial and yeast pathogens isolated from human infections, such as respiratory tract ones (Focht et al., 1993). There are several reports about its beneficial use in otorhinolaryngologic diseases (Aliev, 1968; Palos et al., 1989), such as acute and chronic inflammations of the ear, pharyngitis, rhynopharyngolaryngitis and rhinitis (Kachnii, 1978; Crisan et al., 1995). The introduction of an emulsion containing propolis into the maxillary sinuses of patients with chronic suppurative sinusitis, led to sterilization of the sinuses in 92.4% of cases, higher than when the treatment was performed with penicillin or streptomycin (82.6%) (Sytnik & Kovalik, 1984).

In Cuba, an eyewash containing propolis (LRA-20) was applied to calves (n=20) suffering from infectious keratoconjunctivitis leading, after 2 days, to the cure of all the animals, while treatment with cloramphenicol (n=20), after 72 h the cure rate was only 75% after 3 days of treatment (Martinez et al., 1992).

#### Geriatry

Patients (n=75, 67-98 years old) with chronic bronchitis and emphysema received EEP (33 mg/kg/day), prepared from a Polish sample, while 58 other cases were treated with placebo (Scheller et al., 1984). Applying psychological tests, the authors considered that propolis caused a significant improvement of intellectual function and physical conditions, without adverse lateral effects. In aging subjects with impairment of immunological functions, oral administration of EEP (250 mg/2x day) restored several of these functions, increasing the enzymatic activity of granulocytes, the number of T-lymphocytes and immunoglobulin production (Scheller & Fanckiewicz, 1984). Stimulation of the immune response was also reported after treatment of patients with prostate inflammation with EEP plus polyvacine and levamisole (n=50) (Scheller et al., 1985), with the results significantly better than in another group (n=50) treated with antibiotics and antiflogistics. Also in patients with fibrotic alveolitis, propolis led to normalization of the number of T lymphocytes and activation of granulocytes (Scheller et al., 1989).

#### **Other Clinical Applications**

EEP was effective in the treatment of acute and chronic colitis, acute gastric and duodenal ulcers (Korochkin & Poslavskii, 1986). Recently it was reported

in Brazil that the use of propolis and royal jelly led to a beneficial effect in the treatment of 85% of clients (n=34, 29-68 years) suffering from hypertension (Facchinhi, 2000<sup>a</sup>). This apitherapeut using these two bee products plus pollen produced a reduction of glucose levels in 73% of the cases (n=26, 22-59 years) (Facchini, 2000<sup>b</sup>).

# **Concluding remarks**

Although there is a huge amount of information about the chemistry and biological activity of propolis, its application in human and veterinary therapies has hardly changed. Experimental studies showed several different properties, specifically anti-microbial, anti-inflammatory, anti-tumoral, anti-ulcer, immunostimulatory and anesthetic. The reports about clinical uses of propolis showed that its efficacy resides mainly in cases of microbial contamination, showing excellent therapeutic indexes on the treatment of giardiasis, viral infections, vaginitis and odontologic and otorhinolaryngolic disorders. Due to its ability to scavenge free radicals, propolis also displays a protective role in different organs and injured tissues, acting as an anti-inflammatory agent. More recently, a potential effect of propolis on the immune response has emerged, with experimental studies showing its unspecific stimulation of release of cytokines and nitric oxide by macrophages, and of NK cell cytotoxicity.

On the other hand, the broad spectrum of properties attributed to propolis can arouse skepticism or even incredulity among researchers in the medical area, as if it could be a remedy for all diseases (Toth, 1985). Systematic investigations of the mechanism of propolis action are urgently needed. Up to now, studies in this line are scarce, but they converge to two points, that are probably interrelated, microbicidal activity and neutralization of free radicals.

The biological activities of propolis are mainly associated with phenolic compounds; and the mechanism of action may depend on the synergism between different components. The main problem is the striking variability of its chemical composition depending basically on its plant sources. Propolis composition, unlike products derived from medicinal plants, is extraordinary variable, creating a substantial problem for the medical use of propolis and stating a need for its standardization. This variability hampers a chemical standardization of propolis based on its "active principles". However, recently a request for a patent was submitted to the Brazilian agency Instituto Nacional de Propriedade Industrial (INPI) regarding propolis categorization based on the chemical composition determined by gas and liquid chromatography techniques (M. C. Marcucci, personal communication). Investigations correlating chemical composition, the basic plant sources in different geographic regions, and biological and pharmacological activities open the possibility of a classification of a limited number of "chemical types" of propolis. This multidisciplinary approach is only possible with the combined effort of the national and international scientific communities.

# **Acknowledgments**

I am very grateful to Dr. Maria Cristina Marcucci for critical reading of this manuscript.

## References

- Aga H, Shibuya T, Sugimoto T, Kurimoto M, Nakajima S. Isolation and identification of antimicrobial compounds in Brazilian propolis. Biosci Biotechnol Biochem 1994;58:945-6.
- Aliev BA. Local use of the bee product propolis in otorhinolaryngologic practice. Vestn Otorinolaringol 1968;30:105.
- Amoros M, Sauvager F, Girre L, Cormier M. *In vitro* antiviral activity of propolis. Apidologie 1992;23:231-40.
- Arvouet-Grand A, Lejeune B, Bastide P, Pourrat A, Privat AM, Legret P. Propolis extract. II. Wound healing the rat and rabbit. J Pharm Belg 1993<sup>a</sup>;48:171-8.
- Arvouet-Grand A, Lejeune B, Bastide P, Pourrat A, Privat AM, Legret P. Propolis extract. I. Acute toxicity and determination of acute primary cutaneous irritation index. J Pharm Belg 1993<sup>b</sup>;48:165-70.
- Arvouet-Grand A, Vennat B, Pourrat A, Legret P. Standardization of propolis extract and identification of principal constituents. J Pharm Belg 1994;49:462-8.
- Azevedo IBS, Sampaio RF, Montes JC, Contreras RLL. Tratamento de escaras de decúbito com própolis. Rev Bras Enf (Brasília) 1986;39:33-7.
- Ban J, Popovic S, Maysinger D. Cytostatic effects of propolis *in vitro*. Acta Pharm Jugosl 1983;33:245-55.
- Bankova VS, Boudourova-Krasteva G, Sforcin JM, Frete X, Kujumgiev A, Maimoni-Rodella R, Popov S. Phytochemical evidence for the plant origin of Brazilian propolis from Sao Paulo state. Z Naturforsch 1999;54C:401-5.
- Bankova VS, Christov R, Kujumgiev A, Marcucci MC, Popov S. Chemical composition and antibacterial activity of Brazilian propolis. Z Naturforsch 1995;50C:167-72.
- Bankova VS, Christov R, Marcucci C, Popov S. Constituents of Brazilian geopropolis. Z Naturforsch 1998;53C:402-6.
- Bankova VS, Christov R, Popov S, Pureb O. Volatile constituents of propolis. Z Naturforsch 1994;49C:6-10.
- Bankova VS, De Castro SL, Marcucci MC. Propolis: Recent advances in research on chemistry and plant origin. Apidologie 2000; 31:3-15.
- Bankova VS, Marcucci MC, Simova S, Nikolova N, Kujumgiev A, Popov S. Antibacterial diterpenic acids from Brazilian propolis. Z Naturforsch 1996<sup>a</sup>;51C:277-80.
- Bankova VS, Nikolova N, Marcucci MC. New lignan from Brazilian propolis. Z Naturforsch 1996<sup>b</sup>;51C:735-7.
- Banskota AH, Tezuka Y, Adnyana IK, Ishii E, Midorikawa K, Matsushige K, Kadota S. Hepatoprotective and anti-*Helicobacter pylori* activities of constituents from Brazilian propolis. Phytomedicine 2001;8:16-23.

- Banskota AH, Tezuka Y, Adnyana IK, Midorikawa K, Matsushige K, Message D, Huertas AA, Kadota S. Cytotoxic, hepatoprotective and free radical scavenging effects of propolis from Brazil, Peru, the Netherlands and China. J Ethnopharmacol 2000a;72:239-46.
- Banskota AH, Tezuka Y, Midorikawa K, Matsushige K, Kadota S. Two novel cytotoxic benzofuran derivatives from Brazilian propolis. J Nat Prod 2000<sup>b</sup>;63:1277-9.
- Banskota AH, Tezuka Y, Prasain JK, Matsushige K, Saiki I, Kadota S. Chemical constituents of Brazilian propolis and their cytotoxic activities. J Nat Prod 1998;61:896-900.
- Basnet P, Matsuno T, Neidlein R. Potent free radical scavenging activity of propol isolated from Brazilian propolis. Z Naturforsch 1997;52C:828-33.
- Basnet P, Matsushige K, Hase K, Kadota S, Namba T. Four di-*O*-caffeoyl quinic acid derivatives from propolis. Potent hepatoprotective activity in experimental liver injury models. Biol Pharm Bull 1996<sup>a</sup>;19:1479-84.
- Basnet P, Matsushige K, Hase K, Kadota S, Namba T. Potent antihepatotoxic activity of dicaffeoyl quinic acids from propolis. Biol Pharm Bull 1996<sup>b</sup>;19:655-7.
- Benkova M, Boroskova Z, Dubaj J, Szechenyi S. The immunomodulative effect of propolis preparations on guinea pigs with experimental ascaridosis. Hemilnthologia 1989:26:163-72.
- Bolshakova VF. Employment of propolis in dermatology. Proc. XXV Cong. Apimondia, Grenoble, France, 1975;134-6.
- Bosio K, Avanzini C, D'Avolio A, Ozino O, Savoia D. *In vitro* activity of propolis against *Streptococcus pyogenes*. Lett Appl Microbiol 2000;31:174-7.
- Boudourova-Krasteva G, Bankova VS, Sforcin JM, Nikolova N, Popov S. Phenolics from Brazilian propolis. Z Naturforsch 1997;52C:676-9.
- Bretz WA, Chiego DJ, Jr., Marcucci MC, Cunha I, Custodio A, Schneider LG. Preliminary report on the effects of propolis on wound healing in the dental pulp. Z Naturforsch 1998;53C:1045-8.
- Burdock GA. Review of the biological properties and toxicity of bee propolis. Food Chem Toxicol 1998;36:347-63.
- Chen YJ, Shiao MS, Wang SY. The antioxidant caffeic acid phenethyl ester induces apoptosis associated with selective scavenging of hydrogen peroxide in human leukemic HL-60 cells. Anticancer Drugs 2001;12:143-9.
- Chlorazak T, Szaflarski J, Seferowicz E, Scheller S. Preliminary evaluation of clinical usefulness of propolis (beeswax) preparations. Przegl Lek 1971;28:828-31.
- Choi YH, Lee WY, Nam SY, Choi KC, Park YE. Apoptosis induced by propolis in human hepatocellular carcinoma cell line. Int J Mol Med 1999;4:29-32.
- Chopra S, Pillai KK, Husain SZ, Giri DK (1995; Propolis protects against doxorubicin-induced myocardiopathy in rats. Exp Mol Pathol 62:190-8.
- Cizmarik J, Trupl J. The effects of propolis on bacteria. Pharmazie 1976a;31:656-7.

- Cizmarik J, Trupl J. Action of propolis on dermatophytes. Pharmazie 1976<sup>b</sup>; 31:55.
- Claus R, Kinscherf R, Gehrke C, Bonaterra G, Basnet P, Metz J, Deigner HP. Antiapoptotic effects of propolis extract and propol on human macrophages exposed to minimally modified low density lipoprotein. Arzneim-Forsch/Drug Res 2000;50:373-9.
- Clifford MN. Chlorogenic acids and other cinnamates: Nature, occurrence and dietary burden. J Sci Food Agric 1999;79:362-72.
- Cook NC, Samman S. Flavonoids: Chemistry, metabolism, cardioprotective effects, and dietary sources. Nut Biochem 1996;7:66-76.
- Crisan I, Zaharia CN, Popovici F, Jucu V, Belu O, Dascalu C, Mutiu A, Petrescu A. Natural propolis extract NIVCRISOL in the treatment of acute and chronic rhinopharyngitis in children. Rom J Virol 1995;46:115-33.
- Damian G, Kurten C, Scremin A, Marcucci MC, Paulino N. Avaliação da atividade cicatrizante do extrato de própolis P1 e da pomada de própolis P1 no modelo de lesão cirúrgica em camundongos. Proc XXII Congr Bras Apicultura, SC, Brazil, 2000.
- De Campos RO, Paulino N, da Silva CH, Scremin A, Calixto JB. Anti-hyperalgesic effect of an ethanolic extract of propolis in mice and rats. J Pharm Pharmacol 1998;50:1187-93.
- De Castro SL, Dantas AP, Salomão K, Prytzyk E, Pereira AS, Aquino Neto FR & Bankova VS. Trypanocidal activity and chemical composition of Bulgarian samples of propolis. Proc. 4<sup>th</sup> COST-B9, Lisbon, Portugal, 2001
- De Castro SL, Higashi KO. Effect of different formulations of propolis on mice infected with *Trypanosoma cruzi*. J Ethnopharmacol 1995;46:55-8.
- Dimov V, Ivanovska N, Manolava N, Bankova VS, Nikolov N. Immunomodulatory action of propolis. Influence on anti-infectious protection and macrophage function. Apidologie 1991; 22:155-62.
- Dimov V, Ivanovska N, Bankova VS, Popov S. Immunomodulatory action of propolis: IV. Prophylactic activity against Gram-negative infections and adjuvant effect of the water-soluble derivative. Vaccine 1992;10:817-23.
- Drogovoz SM, Tikhonov AI, Slyshkov VV, Sal'nikova SI. The liver-protective properties of the pediatric drug form of propolis in animals of different age groups. Eksp Klin Farmakol 1994;57:39-42.
- Eley BM. Antibacterial agents in the control of supragingival plaque. A review. Br Dent J 1999;186:286-96.
- El-Ghazaly MA, Khayyal MT. The use of aqueous propolis extract against radiation-induced damage. Drugs Exp Clin Res 1995;21:229-36.
- Esanu V. Research in the field of antiviral chemotherapy performed in the "Stefan S. Nicolau" Institute of Virology. Virologie 1984;35:281-93.
- Facchini O. Tratamento apiterapeutico nas hipertensões. Proc XIII Cong Bras Apicultura, SC, Brazil, 2000<sup>a</sup>.

- Facchini O.; Tratamento apiterapeutico na diabetes. Proc XIII Cong Bras Apicultura, SC, Brazil, 2000<sup>b</sup>.
- Facino RM, Carini M, Aldini G, Saibene L, Pietta P, Mauri P. Echinacoside and caffeoyl conjugates protect collagen from free radical-induced degradation: A potential use of *Echinacea* extracts in the prevention of skin photodamage. Planta Med 1995;61 510-4.
- Fernandes Jr A, Sugizaki MF, Fogo ML, Lopes CAM, Funan SRC. *In vitro* activity of propolis against bacterial and yeast pathogens isolated from human infections. J Venom Anim Toxins 1995;1:15-8.
- Fesen MR, Kohn KW, Leteurtre F, Pommier Y. Inhibitors of human immunodeficiency virus integrase. Proc Natl Acad Sci (USA) 1993;90:2399-403.
- Fierro W. Propóleos: Propriedades terapéuticas y suo clinico. Tendencias en Medicina 1995;6:30-8.
- Focht J, Hansen SH, Nielsen JV, van den Berg-Segers A, Riezler R. Bactericidal effect of propolis in vitro against agents causing upper respiratory tract infections. Arzneim-Forsch/Drug Res 1993;43:921-3.
- Fontana JD, Passos M, DosSantos MHR, Fontana CK, Oliveira BH, Schause L, Pontarolo R, Barbirato MA, Ruggiero MA, Lancas FM. Profiling propolis flavonoids by means of micellar electrokinetic capillary chromatography, capillary gas chromatography and bactericidal action. Chromatographia 2000;52:147-51.
- Gabrys J, Konecki J, Krol W, Scheller S, Shani J. Free amino acids in bee hive product (propolis) as identified and quantified by gas-liquid chromatography. Pharmacol Res Commun 1986;18:513-8.
- Gama GB. Propolis and malaria. Rev Soc Bras Med Trop 1993;26:193.
- Ghisalberti EL. Propolis: A review. Bee World 1979;60:59-84.
- Giurcaneanu F, Crisan I, Esanu V, Cioca V, Cajal N. Treatment of cutaneous herpes and herpes zoster with Nivcrisol-D. Virologie 1988;39:21-4.
- Glinski Z, Meresta T. Trials to standardize an antibacterial activity of propolis. Medycyna Weterynaryjna 1993;49:27-9.
- González JS. Uso da própolis em clínica médica. An I Simp Bras Própolis e Apiterápicos, Franca, SP, Rev Univ Franca 1999;7:15.
- Greenaway W, May J, Scaysbrook T. Identification by gas chromatography-mass spectrometry of 150 compounds in propolis. Z Naturforsch 1991;46C:111-21.
- Grunberger D, Banerjee R, Eisinger K, Oltz EM, Efros L, Caldwell M, Estevez V, Nakanishi K. Preferential cytotoxicity on tumor cells by caffeic acid phenethyl ester isolated from propolis. Experientia 1988;44:230-2.
- Hansson C, Ezzelarab M, Sterner O. Oxidative activation of the propolis hapten isoprenyl caffeate. Acta Derm Venereol 1995;75:34-6.
- Harborne JB, Williams CA. Advances in flavonoid research since 1992. Phytochemistry 2000;55:481-504.

- Harish Z, Rubinstein A, Golodner M, Elmaliah M, Mizrachi Y. Suppression of HIV-1 replication by propolis and its immunoregulatory effect. Drugs Exp Clin Res 1997;23:89-96.
- Haro A, Lopez-Aliaga I, Lisbona F, Barrionuevo M, Alferez MJ, Campos MS. Beneficial effect of pollen and/or propolis on the metabolism of iron, calcium, phosphorus, and magnesium in rats with nutritional ferropenic anemia. J Agric Food Chem 2000;48:5715-22.
- Hausen BM. Contact allergy to balsam of Peru. II. Patch test results in 102 patients with selected balsam of Peru constituents. Am J Contact Dermat 2001;12:93-102.
- Hausen BM, Wollenweber E. Propolis allergy. (III). Sensitization studies with minor constituents. Contact Dermatitis 1988;19:296-303.
- Hausen BM, Wollenweber E, Senff H, Post B. Propolis allergy. (I). Origin, properties, usage and literature review. Contact Dermatitis 1987<sup>a</sup>:17:163-70.
- Hausen BM, Wollenweber E, Senff H, Post B. Propolis allergy. (II). The sensitizing properties of 1,1-dimethylallyl caffeic acid ester. Contact Dermatitis 1987<sup>b</sup>;17:171-7.
- Hegazi AG, Abd El Hady FK, Abd Allah FA. Chemical composition and antimicrobial activity of European propolis. Z Naturforsch 2000;55C:70-5.
- Hepsen IF, Er H, Cekic O. Topically applied water extract of propolis to suppress corneal neovascularization in rabbits. Ophthalmic Res 1999;31:426-31.
- Higashi KO, De Castro SL. Propolis extracts are effective against *Trypanosoma cruzi* and have an impact on its interaction with host cells. J Ethnopharmacol 1994;43:149-55.
- Hirota M, Matsuno T, Fujiwara T, Sugiyama H, Mineshita S. Enhanced cytotoxicity in a *Z*-photoisomer of a benzopyran derivative of propolis. J Nat Prod 2000;63:366-70.
- Hladon B, Bylka W, Ellnain-Wojtaszek M, Skrzypczak L, Szafarek P, Chodera A, Kowalewski Z. *In vitro* studies on the cytostatic activity of propolis extracts. Arzneim-Forsch/Drug Res 1980;30:1847-8.
- Holderma E, Kedzia B. Inestigations upon combined action of propolis and antimycotic drugs on Candida albicans. Herba Pol 1987;33:145-51.
- Hollands I, Miyares C, Sigarroa A, Perez A. Accion del propoleo sobre la intensidad de parasitacion en conejos afectados por eimerias intestinales. Rvta Club Cienc Vet 1984;15:157-63.
- Ikeno K, Ikeno T, Miyazawa C. Effects of propolis on dental caries in rats. Caries Res 1991:25:347-51.
- Ilewicz L, Scheller S, Chruscuel H, Bily-Pryga Z, Korycinska-Wronska W, Kalebka P. Further trials of using ethanol-extracted propolis (EEP) in the treatment of various diseases of the teeth and oral mucosa. Czas Stomatol 1982;35:749-53.
- Ilewicz L, Szczurek Z, Szenowski H, Luciak M, Ciesielski A, Scheller S. Healing of injured dental pulp covered by an ethanol extract of propolis (EEP) in light of morphological studies. Czas Stomatol 1986;39:632-42.

- Ionita R, Sacalus A, Jivanescu M, Constantinescu I, Stanciu V, Bodnar C, Sacalus C. Experimentation of apiarian preparations for the direct and the indirect capping of the dental pulp. Stomatologie 1990;37:19-30.
- Ivanovska ND, Dimov VB, Pavlova S, Bankova VS, Popov SS. Immunomodulatory action of propolis. V. Anticomplementary activity of a water-soluble derivative. J Ethnopharmacol 1995<sup>a</sup>;47:135-43.
- Ivanovska ND, Neychev H, Stefanova Z, Bankova VS, Popov SS. Influence of cinnamic acid on lymphocyte proliferation, cytokine release and *Klebisiella* infection in mice. Apidologie 1995<sup>b</sup>;26:76-81.
- Ivanovska ND, Stefanova Z, Valeva V, Neychev H. Immunomodulatory action of propolis. VII. A comparative study on cinnamic and caffeic acid lysine derivatives. Biol Immunol 1993;46:115-7.
- Jeng SN, Shih MK, Kao CM, Liu TZ, Chen SC. Antimutagenicity of ethanol extracts of bee glue against environmental mutagens. Food Chem Toxicol 2000;38:893-7.
- Kachnyi GG. The treatment of chronic suppurative inflammation of the middle ear with propolis. Med Sestra 1978;37:44-5.
- Kaminski M, Scheller S, Nolewajka E. Biological properties and clinical application of propolis. V. The action of ethanol extract of propolis on laboratory animals. Histochemical investigations. Arzneim-Forsch/Drug Res 1977;27:1962-4.
- Kedzia B, Geppert B, Iwaszkiewicz J. Pharmacological investigations of ethanolic extract of propolis. Rev Phytotherapie Pratique 1990;6:7-10.
- Kegl T, Huszenicza G, Jonsson P, Olah B, Gacs M, Stollar Z, Oppel K. Experiences on the effectiveness of an intramammary infusion without containing antibiotics. 3. Comparative study of the purified propolis-containing udder infusion. Magy Allatoryosok 1993;48:485-93.
- Khachaturov AA, Gudkov AI. Propolis therapy of certain dermatoses and burns in the far north. Vestn Dermatol Venerol 1969;43:63-5.
- Khayyal MT, El-Ghazaly MA, El-Khatib AS. Mechanisms involved in the antiinflammatory effect of propolis extract. Drugs Exp Clin Res 1993;19:197-203.
- Kimoto N, Hirose M, Kawabe M, Satoh T, Miyataka H, Shirai T. Post-initiation effects of a super critical extract of propolis in a rat two-stage carcinogenesis model in female F344 rats. Cancer Lett 1999;147:221-7.
- Kimoto T, Aga M, Hino K, Koya-Miyata S, Yamamoto Y, Micallef MJ, Hanaya T, Arai S, Ikeda M, Kurimoto M. Apoptosis of human leukemia cells induced by artepillin C, an active ingredient of Brazilian propolis. Anticancer Res 2001;21:221-8.
- Kimoto T, Arai S, Kohguchi M, Aga M, Nomura Y, Micallef MJ, Kurimoto M, Mito K. Apoptosis and suppression of tumor growth by artepillin C extracted from Brazilian propolis. Cancer Detect Prev 1998;22:506-15.
- Kimoto T, Koya S, Hino K, Yamamoto Y, Nomura Y, Micallef MJ, Hanaya T, Arai S, Ikeda M, Kurimoto M. Renal carcinogenesis induced by ferric nitrilotriacetate in mice, and protection from it by Brazilian propolis and artepillin C. Pathol Int 2000;50:679-89.

- Kivalkina VP, Gosrshumova VI. Study of combined effect of antibiotics and propolis. Antibiotiki 1973;18:261-3.
- Koo H, Rosalen PL, Cury JA, Park YK, Ikegaki M, Sattler A. Effect of *Apis mellifera* propolis from two Brazilian regions on caries development in desalivated rats. Caries Res 1999;33:393-400.
- Koo H, Vacca Smith AM, Bowen WH, Rosalen PL, Cury JA, Park YK. Effects of *Apis mellifera* propolis on the activities of streptococcal glucosyltransferases in solution and adsorbed onto saliva-coated hydroxyapatite. Caries Res 2000;34:418-26.
- Korochkin IM, Poslavskii MV. Treatment of chronic gastroduodenal ulcers by local administration of propolis. Sov Med 1986;105-7.
- Kosenko SV, Kosovich TI. The treatment of periodontitis with prolonged-action propolis preparations (clinical x-ray research). Stomatologiia (Mosk) 1990;69:27-9.
- Krasnodebski J, Scheller S, Suchy H. Use of an ethanol extract of propolis in the treatment of vaginitis and conditions after electrocoagulation of cervical erosion. Ginekol Pol 1986;57:471-8.
- Krol W, Scheller S, Czuba Z, Matsuno T, Zydowicz G, Shani J, Mos M. Inhibition of neutrophils' chemiluminescence by ethanol extract of propolis and its phenolic components. J Ethnopharmacol 1996;55:19-25.
- Kujumgiev A, Tsvetkova I, Serkedjieva Y, Bankova VS, Christov R, Popov SS. Antibacterial, antifungal and antiviral activity of propolis of different geographic origin. J Ethnopharmacol 1999;64:235-40.
- Langoni H, Domingues PF, Funari SRC, Dias HLT, Mota RA, Rocha NS, Sforcin A. *Prototheca zopffi* as agent of bovine mastitis: Clinics and therapeutics. Arq Bras Med Vet Zootec 1995;47:727-32.
- Lavie P. Etude de substance antibiotiques presentes chez Apis mellifica et chez quelques insectes sociaux. CR Acad Sci 1957;244:2653-5.
- Ledon N, Casaco A, Gonzalez R, Merino N, Gonzalez A, Tolon Z. Antipsoriatic, antiinflammatory, and analgesic effects of an extract of red propolis. Zhongguo Yao Li Xue Bao 1997:18:274-6.
- Luo J, Soh JW, Xing WQ, Mao Y, Matsuno T, Weinstein IB. PM-3, a benzo-γ-pyran derivative isolated from propolis, inhibits growth of MCF-7 human breast cancer cells. Anticancer Res 2001;21:1665-71.
- Machado GMC, De Castro SL, Bankova VS, AquinoNeto FR, Pereira AS, Leon LL. Studies on propolis activity against promastigotes of three Leishmania species. Mem Inst Oswaldo Cruz 2000;95(suppl II): 309.
- Machado JM, Martinez AS, Torres E. Action of propolis against certain viruses affecting domestic animals. Rev Cubana Cienc Vet 1991;22:25-30.
- Magro Filho O, De Carvalho AC. Topical effect of propolis in the repair of sulcoplasties by the modified Kazanjian technique. Cytological and clinical evaluation. J Nihon Univ Sch Dent 1994;36:102-11.

- Magro Filho O, Perri de Carvalho AC, Martins AL, Camara PRP. Reações do tecido conjuntivo a pomada de confrei, propolis e mel. Estudos histólogicos em ratos. Rev Bras Odontol 1987;XLIV: 44-48.
- Makita H, Tanaka T, Fujitsuka H, Tatematsu N, Satoh K, Hara A, Mori H. Chemoprevention of 4-nitroqunoline 1-oxide-induced rat oral carcinogenesis by the dietary flavonoids chalcone, 2-hydroxychalcone and quercetin. Cancer Res 1996;56:4904-9.
- Marcucci MC, De Camargo FA, Lopes CMA. Identification of amino acids in Brazilian propolis. Z Naturforsch 1996;51C:11-4.
- Marcucci MC, Ferreres F, Custodio AR, Ferreira MM, Bankova VS, Garcia-Viguera C, Bretz WA. Evaluation of phenolic compounds in Brazilian propolis from different geographic regions. Z Naturforsch 2000;55C:76-81.
- Marcucci MC, Ferreres F, Garcia-Viguera C, Bankova VS, De Castro SL, Dantas AP, Valente PH, Paulino N. Phenolic compounds from Brazilian propolis with pharmacological activities. J Ethnopharmacol 2001;74:105-12.
- Marcucci MC. Propolis: chemical composition, biological properties and therapeutic activity. Apidologie 1995;26:83-99.
- Marcucci MC, Rodriguez J, Ferreres F, Bankova VS, Groto R, Popov SS. Chemical composition of Brazilian propolis from São Paulo State. Z Naturforsch 1998;53C:117-9.
- Martinez JM, Bernal R, Guerra AG, Castillo ME, Silveira E. Application of LRA-20 propolis eyewash in the treatment of calves with infectious keratoconjuctivitis. Rev Cubana Cienc Vet 1992;23:55-8.
- Martinez Silveira G, Gou Godoy A, Ona Torriente R, Palmer Ortiz MC, Falcon Cuellar MA. Preliminary study of the effects of propolis in the treatment of chronic gingivitis and oral ulceration. Rev Cubana Estomatol 1988;25:36-44.
- Martos I, Ferreres F, Yao L, D'Arcy B, Caffin N, Tomas-Barberan FA. Flavonoids in monospecific eucalyptus honeys from Australia. J Agric Food Chem 2000;48:4744-8.
- Matsuno T, Jung SK, Matsumoto Y, Saito M, Morikawa J. Preferential cytotoxicity to tumor cells of 3,5-diprenyl-4-hydroxycinnamic acid (artepillin C) isolated from propolis. Anticancer Res 1997<sup>a</sup>;17:3565-8.
- Matsuno T, Matsumoto Y, Saito M, Morikawa J. Isolation and characterization of cytotoxic diterpenoid isomers from propolis. Z Naturforsch 1997<sup>b</sup>;52C:702-4.
- Matsuno T, Saito M, Matsumoto Y, Morikawa J. A new benzo-g-pyran derivative isolated from propolis. Z Naturforsch 1998;53C:1037-9.
- Matsushige K, Basnet P, Hase K, Kadota K, Namba T. Propolis protects pancreatic beta-cells against the toxicity of streptozotocin. Phytomedicine 1996<sup>a</sup>;3:203-9.
- Matsushige K, Kadota S, Hase K, Namba T. Potent antihepatotoxic activity of dicaffeoyl quinic acids from propolis. Biol Pharmaceutical Bull 1996<sup>b</sup>;19 655-7.

- Menezes H, Alvarez JM, Almeida E. Mouse ear edema modulation by different propolis ethanol extracts. Arzneim-Forsch/Drug Res 1999;49:705-7.
- Meresta L, Meresta T. Effect of pH on bactericidal activity of propolis. Bull Vet Inst Pulawy 1980;24 1-4.
- Metzner J, Schneidewind EM, Friedrich E. Effect of propolis and pinocembrin on fungi. Pharmazie 1977;32:730.
- Mirzoeva OK, Calder PC. The effect of propolis and its components on eicosanoid production during the inflammatory response. Prostaglandins Leukot Essent Fatty Acids 1996;55:441-9.
- Mirzoeva OK, Grishanin RN, Calder PC. Antimicrobial action of propolis and some of its components: the effects on growth, membrane potential and motility of bacteria. Microbiol Res 1997;152:239-46.
- Mitamura T, Matsuno T, Sakamoto S, Maemura M, Kudo H, Suzuki S, Kuwa K, Yoshimura S, Sassa S, Nakayama T, Nagasawa H. Effects of a new clerodane diterpenoid isolated from propolis on chemical induced skin tumors in mice. Anticancer Res 1996;16:2669-72.
- Miyares C, Hollands I, Castaneda C, Gonzalez T, Fragoso T, Curras R, Soria C. Clinical trial with a preparation based on propolis "propolisina" in human giardiasis. Acta Gastroenterol Latinoam 1988;18:195-201.
- Moreno MIN, Isla MI, Sampietro AR, Vattuone MA. Comparison of the free radical-scavenging activity of propolis from several regions of Argentina. J Ethnopharmacol 2000;71:109-14.
- Mujalli L. Uso da própolis na cirurgia plástica. An I Simp Bras Própolis e Apiterápicos, Franca, SP, Rev Univ Franca 1999;7:15
- Murray MC, Worthington HV, Blinkhorn AS. A study to investigate the effect of a propolis-containing mouth rinse on the inhibition of de novo plaque formation. J Clin Periodontol 1997;24:796-8.
- Nakayama T, Yamada M, Osawa T, Kawakishi S. Inhibitory effects of caffeic acid ethyl ester on H2O2-induced cytotoxicity and DNA single-strand breaks in Chinese hamster V79 cells. Biosc Biotechnol Biochem 1996;60:316-8.
- Orsi RO, Funari SRC, Soares AMVC, Calvi SA, Oliveira SL, Sforcin JM, Bankova VS. Immunomodulatory action of propolis on macrophage activation. J Venom Anim Toxins 2000;6:205-19.
- Ota C, Moraes E, Khouri S. Propolis influence on caries in the molar teeth in rats. J Dent Res 1997;76:953.
- Ozturk F, Kurt E, Cerci M, Emiroglu L, Inan U, Turker M, Ilker S. The effect of propolis extract in experimental chemical corneal injury. Ophthalmic Res 2000;32:13-8.
- Palos E, Popescu F, Mateescu C. Apitherapeutics in the treatment of several otorhinolaryngologic diseases. Proc. XXXII Cong. Apimondia, RJ, Brazil, 1989;214.

- Panzeri H, Lara EHG, Pedrazzi V. An experimental dentifrice containing propolis: Physical, microbiological and clinical evaluations. J Dent Res 1998;77:975.
- Park EH, Kahng JH. Suppressive effects of propolis in rat adjuvant arthritis. Arch Pharm Res 1999;22:554-8.
- Park EH, Kim SH, Park SS. Antiinflammatory activity of propolis. Arch Pharm Res 1996;19:337-41.
- Park YK, Ikegaki M. Preparation of water and ethanolic extracts of propolis and evaluation of the preparations. Biosci Biotechnol Biochem 1998;62:2230-2.
- Park YK, Koo MH, Abreu JA, Ikegaki M, Cury JA, Rosalen PL. Antimicrobial activity of propolis on oral microorganisms. Curr Microbiol 1998;36:24-8.
- Pascual C, Gonzalez R, Torricella RG. Scavenging action of propolis extract against oxygen radicals. J Ethnopharmacol 1994;41:9-13.
- Pereira AS, Ramos MFDS, Pocas ESC, Dias PCM, Dos Santos EP, Da Silva JFM, Cardoso JN & Aquino-Neto FR. Study of propolis by high temperature high resolution gas chromatography-mass spectrometry. Z Naturforsch 1999;54C:395-400.
- Popeskovic D. Etude parallele de l'action des fractions de la propolis sur les cultures du *Trichomonas (T. vaginalis, T. gallinae* et *T. microti*). Proc. Third Symp Int D'Apitherapie, Apimondia (Bucarest) 1978;160-162
- Prokopovich NN. Propolis a new anesthetic. Vrach Delo 1957;10:1077-80.
- Przybylski J, Scheller S. Early results in the treatment of Legg-Calve-Perthes disease using intra-articular injections of aqueous propolis extract. Z Orthop Ihre Grenzgeb 1985;123:163-7.
- Ravn H, Andary C, Kovacs G, Moelgaard P. Caffeic acid esters as *in vitro* inhibitors of plant pathogenic bacteria and fungi. Biochem Syst Ecol 1989;17:175-84.
- RiceEvans C. Flavonoid antioxidants. Curr Medicinal Chem 2001;8:797-807.
- Rodriguez S, Ancheta O, Ramos ME, Remirez D, Rojas E, Gonzalez R. Effects of Cuban red propolis on galactosamine-induced hepatitis in rats. Pharmacol Res 1997;35:1-4.
- Roman S, Palos E, Mateescu C. Treatment os some gynecological diseases with apitherapeutical products. Proc. XXXII Cong. Apimondia, RJ, Brazil, 1989;215-216
- Santana Perez E, Lugones Botell M, Perez Stuart O, Castillo Brito B. Vaginal parasites and acute cervicitis: local treatment with propolis. Preliminary report. Rev Cubana Enferm 1995;11:51-6.
- Scheller S, Frankiewicz L. Biene-Kittharz stimuliert das Immunesystem. Arztliche Prax 1984:95:2869-72.
- Scheller S, Dworniczak S, Waldemar-Klimmek K, Rajca M, Tomczyk A, Shani J. Synergism between ethanolic extract of propolis and anti-tuberculosis drugs on growth of mycobacteria. Z Naturforsch 1999;54C:549-53.
- Scheller S, Gazda G, Krol W, Czuba Z, Zajusz A, Gabrys J, Shani J. The ability of ethanolic extract of propolis to protect mice against gamma irradiation. Z Naturforsch 1989<sup>b</sup>;44C:1049-52.

- Scheller S, Gazda G, Pietsz G, Gabrys J, Szumlas J, Eckert L, Shani J. The ability of ethanol extract of propolis to stimulate plaque formation in immunized mouse spleen cells. Pharmacol Res Commun 1988;20:323-8.
- Scheller S, Kawalski H, Oklek K, Dworniczak S, Matsuno T, Waldemar-Klimmek K, Rajca M, Shani J. Correlation between virulence of various strains of mycobacteria and their susceptibility to ethanolic extract of propolis. Z Naturforsch 1998;53C:1040-4.
- Scheller S, Krol W, Swiacik J, Owczarek S, Gabrys J, Shani J. Antitumoral property of ethanolic extract of propolis in mice-bearing Ehrlich carcinoma, as compared to bleomycin. Z Naturforsch 1989<sup>a</sup>;44C:1063-5.
- Scheller S, Owczarek S, Krol W, Malinowska B, Nikodemowicz E, Aleksandrowics J. Immunisierungsversuche bei zwei Fallen von Alveolitis Fibroticans bei abnehmender Leistungsfahigkeit das Immunsystems unter Anwendung von Propolis-athanolextrakt, Esberitox N und eines Calcium-Magnesium-Praparates (Dolomit). Heilkunst 1989°;102:249-55.
- Scheller S, Pawlak F, Kokoszka J, Kieloch-Szkoda M, Pietsz G, Gazda G, Such H. Zur Anwendung eines Propolisathanolextraktes in der Geriatrie. Heilkunst 1984;97:222-6.
- Scheller S, Rawski W, Gazda G, Frankiewicz L. Behandlungsversuche der chronischen Prostataentzundung mittels simultaner Anwendung on Polyvakzine, Decaris (Levamisole) und Athanol-Extrakt von Propolis. Heilkunst 1985;98:245-50.
- Scheller S, Stojko A, Szwarnowiecka I, Tustanowski J, Obuszko Z. Biological properties and clinical application of propolis. VI. Investigation of the influence of ethanol extracts of propolis on cartilaginous tissue regeneration. Arzneim-Forsch/Drug Res 1977<sup>b</sup>;27:2138-40.
- Scheller S, Tustanowski J, Felus E, Stojko A. Biological properties and clinical application of propolis. VII. Investigation of immunogenic properties of ethanol extract of propolis. Arzneim-Forsch/Drug Res 1977°;27:2342.
- Scheller S, Tustanowski J, Kurylo B, Paradowski Z, Obuszko Z. Biological properties and clinical application of propolis. III. Investigation of the sensitivity of *Staphylococci* isolated from pathological cases to ethanol extract of propolis. Attempts on inducing resistance in laboratory *Staphylococcus* strain to EEP. Arzneim-Forsch/Drug Res 1977a;27:1395.
- Scheller S, Wilczok T, Imielski S, Krol W, Gabrys J, Shani J. Free radical scavenging by ethanol extract of propolis. Int J Radiat Biol 1990;57:461-5.
- Serkedjieva J, Manlova N, Bankova VS. Anti-influenza virus effect of some propolis constituents and their analogues (esters of substituted cinnamic acids). J Nat Prod 1992;55:294-302.
- Sforcin JM. Seasonal effect on the immunomodulatory and antibacterial properties of propolis and on the biochemical profile of rats. Apicultural Abstracts 1998;49:295.

- Sforcin JM, Fernandes A, Jr., Lopes CA, Bankova VS, Funari SR. Seasonal effect on Brazilian propolis antibacterial activity. J Ethnopharmacol 2000;73:243-9.
- Shub TA, Kagramanova KA, Voropaeva SD, Kivman GI. Effect of propolis on Staphylococcus aureus strains resistant to antibiotics. Antibiotiki 1981;26:268-71.
- Starzyk J, Scheller S, Szaflarski J, Moskwa M, Stojko A. Biological properties and clinical application of propolis. II. Studies on the antiprotozoan activity of ethanol extract of propolis. Arzneim-Forsch/Drug Res 1977;27:1198-9.
- Stojko A, Scheller S, Szwarnowiecka I, Tustanowski J, Ostach H, Obuszko Z. Biological properties and clinical application of propolis. VI. Experimental observation on the influence of ethanol extract of propolis on the regeneration bone tissue. Arzneim-Forsch/Drug Res 1978;28:35-7.
- Strehl E, Volpert R, Elstner EF. Biochemical activities of propolis-extracts. III. Inhibition of dihydrofolate reductase. Z Naturforsch 1994;49C:39-43.
- Su ZZ, Lin J, Prewett M, Goldstein NI, Fisher PB. Apoptosis mediates the selective toxicity of caffeic acid phenethyl ester (CAPE) toward oncogene-transformed rat embryo fibroblast cells. Anticancer Res 1995;15:1841-8.
- Suchy H, Zawadzki J, Scheller S, Posz A. Further studies on the application of propolis in gynecology. Przegl Lek 1974;31:646-8.
- Sugimoto Y, Tarumi T, Kaneko Y, Isayama S, Kawai N, Sugimoto H, Yamada H, Kamei C. Effect of propolis extract on D-galactosamine-induced hepatic injury in rats. Biol Pharm Bull 1999;22:1237-9.
- Sun F, Hayami S, Haruna S, Ogiri Y, Tanaka K, Yamada Y, Ikeda K, Yamada H, Sugimoto H, Kawai N, Kojo S. *In vivo* antioxidative activity of propolis evaluated by the interaction with vitamins C and E and the level of lipid hydroperoxides in rats. J Agric Food Chem 2000;48:1462-5.
- Sytnik IA, Kovalik PV. Dynamics of maxillary microflora alterations in patients with chronic maxillary sinusitis treated with porpolis preparations. Zh Ushn Nos Gorl Bolezn 1984;6:17-20.
- Szmeja Z, Kulczynski B, Sosnowski Z, Konopacki K. Therapeutic value of flavonoids in Rhinovirus infections. Otolaryngol Pol 1989;43:180-4.
- Takaisi-Kikuni NB, Schilcher H. Electron microscopic and microcalorimetric investigations of the possible mechanism of the antibacterial action of a defined propolis provenance. Planta Med 1994;60:222-7.
- Tatefuji T, Izumi N, Ohta T, Arai S, Ikeda M, Kurimoto M. Isolation and identification of compounds from Brazilian propolis which enhance macrophage spreading and mobility. Biol Pharm Bull 1996;19:966-70.
- Tazawa S, Warashina T, Noro T, Miyase T. Studies on the constituents of Brazilian propolis. Chem Pharm Bull (Tokyo) 1998;46:1477-9.
- Tazawa S, Warashina T, Noro T. Studies on the constituents of Brazilian propolis. II. Chem Pharm Bull (Tokyo) 1999;47:1388-92.

- Tomas-Barberan FA, Ferreres F, Garcia-Viguera C, Thomas Lorente F. Flavonoids in honey of different geografical origin. Zeit Lebensmitel Unters Forsch 1993;196:38-44.
- Torres D, Hollands I, Palacios E. Efecto de um extrato alcoholico de prpoleo sobre el crescimiento de *Giardia lamblia in vitro*. Revta Cubana Cienc Vet 1990;21:15-9.
- Tosi B, Donini A, Romagnoli C, Bruni A. Antimicrobial activity of some commercial extracts of propolis prepared with different solvents. Phytotherapy Res 1996;4:335-6.
- Toth G. Propolis: Medicine or Fraud? Am Bee J 1985;125:337-8.
- Troshev K, Kozarev I, Markov D. Regulation of traumatic skin wound healing by influencing the process in the neighbor zone of the wound. Acta Chir Plast 1990;32:152-63.
- Tsarev NI, Petrik EV, Aleksandrova VI. Use of propolis in the treatment of local suppurative infection. Vestn Khir Im I I Grek 1985;134:119-22.
- Velikova M, Bankova VS, Marcucci MC, Tsvetkova I, Kujumgiev A. Chemical composition and biological activity of propolis from Brazilian meliponinae. Z Naturforsch 2000;55C:785-9.
- Vennat B, Arvouet-Grand A, Pourrat A. Skin healing preparations: compared in vitro diffusion of the active ingredients. Drug Dev Ind Pharm 1998;24:253-60.
- Villanueva VR, Barbier M, Gonnet M, Lavie P. Les flavonoides de la propolis: Isolement d'une nouvelle substance bacteriotatique: La pinocembrine (dihydroxy-5,7-flavanone. Ann Inst Pasteur 1964;118:84-6.
- Vynograd N, Vynograd I, Sosnowski Z. A comparative multi-centre study of the efficacy of propolis, acyclovir and placebo in the treatment of genital herpes (HSV). Phytomedicine 2000;7:1-6.
- Wang HK. The therapeutic potential of flavonoids. Expert Opin Investig Drugs 2000;9:2103-19.
- Webster RP, Gawde MD, Battacharya RK. Protective effect of rutin, a flavonoid glycoside, on the carcinogen-induced DNA damage and repair enzymes in rats. Cancer Lett 1996;109:185-91.
- Woisky RG. *In vivo* evaluation of antimalarial activity of propolis against *Plasmodium* berghei. An I Reun Trab Pesquisas com própolis (Unipro I), Campinas, SP, Brazil, 1995:10.
- Wollenweber E, Dorr M, Fritz H, Papendieck S, Yatskievych G, Roitman JN. Exudate flavonoids in miscellaneous *Asteraceae*. 3. Exudate flavonoids in *Asteraceae* from Arizona, California and Mexico. Z Naturforsch 1997;52C:301-7.
  - Xu HX, Wan M, Dong H, But PPH, Foo LY. Inhibitory activity of flavonoids and tannins against HIV-1 protease. Biol Pharm Bull 2000;23:1072-6.
- Zawadzki J, Suchy H, Scheller S. Use of propolis for treatment of vaginitis and cervicitis. Przegl Lek 1973;30:620-3.